THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DILLON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000324

Trial Court Case No. 2019-GS-16-0996

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

v.

Marc Yasin Mckeiver,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Dayne Phillips
SC Bar Number 77712

PRICE BENOWITZ LLP
1614 Taylor Street, Ste. D.
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 272-4503

Attorney for Appellant

RECEIVED

JUN 22 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO SUPPRESS THE PHOTOGRAPHS OBTAINED FROM SNAPCHAT WHEN THE COUNTY MAGISTRATE JUDGE DID NOT HAVE THE AUTHORITY TO ISSUE A SEARCH WARRANT TO THAT OUT-OF-STATE ENTITY FOR RECORDS THAT WERE NOT PHYSICALLY LOCATED IN THIS STATE?

- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ADMITTING PHOTOGRAPHS OBTAINED FROM SNAPCHAT WHEN THIS EVIDENCE WAS NOT PROPERLY AUTHENTICATED PURSUANT TO RULE 901, SCRE, BY PERSONAL KNOWLEDGE, DISTINCTIVE CHARACTERISTICS, OR RECORDS CUSTODIAN?

- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO SUPPRESS THE DECEASED CI'S VIDEO RECORDING OF INSIDE APPELLANT'S HOME IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 1, SECTION 10'S PROHIBITION AGAINST UNREASONABLE INVASIONS OF PRIVACY?

- IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY FAILING TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE TO GRANT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING, WHERE DEFENSE COUNSEL PRODUCED SEVEN AFFIDAVITS AT A POST-TRIAL HEARING INDICATING TWO JURORS INTENTIONALLY CONCEALED INFORMATION IN RESPONSE TO THE COURT'S VOIR DIRE QUESTIONS, AND WHERE THE DEFENSE COUNSEL WOULD HAVE STRUCK THEM HAD THE JURORS NOT CONCEALED THE INFORMATION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 12, 2020, the Dillon County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Marc Yasin McKeiver, for Trafficking Methamphetamine, 100 grams or more, but less than 200 grams, first offense (Indictment 2019-GS-17-0996). (R. 427).

On January 10, 2022, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Paul M. Burch and a jury. (R. 1). Thurmond Brooker represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitor Shipp Daniel prosecuted the case on behalf of the State. (R. 1). The jury returned a verdict of guilty on January 12, 2022. (R. 352, line 20 – 353, line 1). The Trial Court sentenced Appellant to twenty-five (25) years imprisonment. (R. 368, lines 19-25).

On January 20, 2022, Appellant filed a Motion for a New Trial. (R. 384). The parties appeared before Trial Court and presented their arguments on March 10, 2022. (R. 397). The Trial Court denied the motion at the conclusion of the hearing. (R. 423, lines 18-25). Appellant timely filed a Notice of Appeal on March 16, 2022.

This appeal follows.

RELEVANT FACTS

During opening statement, the Prosecutor outlined the State's case and addressed the unique factual issue of the State's key witness being deceased prior to trial:

You're gonna hear from three witnesses. That's it. This ain't gonna [sic] be a long one. Three witnesses. They're all law enforcement agents. You're going to hear from J.T. Martin of [the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED)], who was overseeing a task force that was investigating the drug trade in Dillon County back in 2019.

...

You're going to hear from Alex Blake, who used to be with [SLED], now, works for the FBI. You're going to hear about what they did. How they targeted this defendant. You're going to hear how they used a confidential informant, we call them CI's. He was a confidential informant. To go to where [Appellant] was and buy a bunch of pills from him.

...

You're not going to hear from the confidential informant himself because, unfortunately, he died a while back, a while, a while ago, in a completely unrelated situation having nothing to do with this defendant. So you can't hear from him. But you will hear from, from these three sled agents. That's it. Plain and simple, straightforward, but very important.

(R. 134, line 25 – 135, line 23).

During pre-trial, the Prosecutor provided a more detailed explanation of the State's case to the Trial Court in anticipation of Defense Counsel's motions in limine:

This [CI] is now dead. He was murdered in an unrelated situation a while ago. The [CI] met with law enforcement on September 9 at whatever meeting location they had. The [CI] was searched by [SLED] agents. He had to make sure he didn't have any drugs, money, weapons, anything on him. He did not. They outfitted him with a camera. They get in the car. An undercover [SLED] agent drove the under, drove the [CI] to Mr. [Appellant's] house.

...

[A]t least two phone calls were placed from [CI's] phone to [Appellant's] phone. [Appellant] answers. They have a conversation that was on speaker phone and the [SLED] agent heard the conversation where the CI was setting up the buy that was to take place shortly, thereafter. [SLED] agent drives confidential informant to the house. Broad daylight. Let's

[CI] out in the front yard. [CI] walks up - and you see all this on video - walks up to the door and [Appellant] answers the door. [Appellant] takes the [CI] back to a back bedroom. You see in the, in the video, it's a little blurry, this particular part of it, but you see something that looks like a plastic bag in [Appellant's] hand to CI, has some sort of conversation. The only - - there's only one other person that is visible in the video and that is the defendant's girlfriend, Winter Bennett . . . [.]

...

[The CI] returns to the [SLED] agent's car. He's only in the house for, I mean, not even two minutes. When he returns to [SLED] agent's car he gives the [SLED] agent, two bags of pastel colored oddly shaped pills. These pills were sent to [SLED] and they turned out to be methamphetamine, 134, 136 grams of methamphetamine.

(R. 31, line 2 – 32, line 14).

Motion to Suppress Deceased CI's Statements

Defense Counsel moved to suppress “any statements that were made, that was made by the CI whether written or either record[ed] statements, that would include statements that was made by the CI on the video[.]” (R. 38, line 24 – 39, line 3).

In response, the Prosecutor agreed to mute the audio of the CI's video recording.

(R. 39). Defense Counsel provided no additional argument on this issue.

Motion to Suppress Deceased CI's Video Recording

Defense Counsel also moved to suppress the video recording made by the deceased CI, arguing the “South Carolina [Constitution] provides also the additional protection against invasion of privacy”. (R. 44, lines 1-3). Specifically, Defense Counsel explained that the CI is an agent of the State who has entered a private citizen's residence wearing a live recording device, which allowed the State (law enforcement) to view inside the home without the owner's consent, and more importantly, without a warrant. (R. 40 – 44). Defense Counsel noted that the distinguishing factor is when there is a “controlled buy” (drug deal) done by a CI *inside* of a residence: “So the question then

becomes . . . whether or not law enforcement can do something through technology that they would not be able to otherwise physically do.” (R. 43, lines 4-6). In response, the Prosecutor argued that “[n]o warrant is required for a confidential informant to go inside a house whether there’s a live feed or not.” (R. 45, lines 12-13).

The Trial Court denied the motion and stated, “What flies in the face of your argument . . . is the fact that if you had to get a warrant for a CI to go in and make a buy, you got to serve that warrant and no supplier of drugs is gonna sell somebody drugs or give them drugs after a warrant has been served on them”. (R. 45, lines 18-24). Defense Counsel replied, “[T]he question is . . . whether or not [law enforcement] can outfit a [CI] with a live feed wire with law enforcement on the other end and walk into a private residence.” (R. 46, lines 9-13). The Prosecutor injected that the CI had two cameras and claimed that the live feed camera did not work but needed to check with law enforcement for confirmation. (R. 46, line 23 – 47, line 8).

On cross-examination during the pre-trial hearing, Special Agent Alex Blake of the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) testified that he had never spoken to or met with Appellant prior to the alleged drug deal with the CI. (R. 99, line 12 – 100, line 1). Agent Blake also admitted that the only information of illegal activity he had regarding Appellant was provided to him by the deceased CI and the other Special Agent. (R. 101, lines 15). Notably, Special Agent James Martin of SLED maintained that he did not recall whether the video feed was live when the deceased CI went into Appellant’s residence but conceded to the “audio being transmitted live”. (R. 113, lines 13-23).

Motion to Suppress Photographs from Snapchat: Invalid Search Warrant

Furthermore, Defense Counsel moved to suppress photographs that were

allegedly posted on the social media platform Snapchat and obtained by law enforcement due to a search warrant signed by a Dillon County Magistrate Judge. (R. 66 – 77). Specifically, Defense Counsel argued that “magistrate judges only have the authority to issue search warrants within their jurisdictional boundaries.” (R. 67, lines 1-3). Defense Counsel noted that Snapchat Incorporated was not located in Dillon County and that “a magistrate’s judges jurisdiction is [in] the county in which that judge sit.” (R. 68, lines 11-12). The Trial Court replied, “If a magistrate issued that on Snapchat that warrant is not gonna hold water, solicitor.” (R. 68, lines 22-23). The Prosecutor disagreed, and the Trial Court stated:

Y’all are both wrong there. They way I understand that we’ve been instructed by federal precedent, the magistrates the jurisdiction ends at their county lines. If the legislature were to come in and declare and force the issue the magistrate’s are a court of record, it won’t be an issue anymore. But any circuit judge in this state operates a court of record, therefore, the circuit court judges can issue warrants in the matters of these cell phones and these computer records. A magistrate cannot, unless, that specific servers is located in that county. Now, if the Attorney General disagrees with that they’re sure different from what I’ve been instructed.

(R. 69, lines 5-17).

In response, the Prosecutor cited a recent oral argument in *State v. Warner*, 436 S.C. 395, 872 S.E.2d 638 (2022) and maintained that the photographs were obtained by law enforcement in good faith and were “created in the jurisdiction of this magistrate.” (R. 69, line 18 – 70, line 24). The Trial Court ultimately held, “I’m trying to apply a common sense approach to this whole thing since there’s not much present . . . I’m gonna have to deny the motion in limine or to suppress that particular Snapchat evidence. (R. 91, lines 2-6).

During a subsequent pre-trial hearing, Special Agent James Martin of SLED

testified that he presented a search warrant for Snapchat and that the magistrate judge signed the warrant. (R. 108, lines 12-25). Agent Martin conceded on cross-examination that he did not subpoena any records from a cell phone provider to identify the account owner of the specific number provided by the deceased CI. (R. 110, lines 12-23). Agent Martin further admitted he had no knowledge that the cell phone number was assigned to Appellant. (R. 110, line 23 – 111, line 2). Notably, the State never subpoenaed any phone records to substantiate the allegation that the phone number was associated with Appellant. (R. 106, lines 7-15).

Motion to Suppress Photographs from Snapchat: Authentication

Defense Counsel also moved to suppress the photographs allegedly posted on Snapchat based on the State's inability to properly authenticate the messages. (R. 47 – 4). Specifically, Defense Counsel argued that the State did not have a custodian of records for Snapchat available to testify: “[O]ur first argument is, is that if these [photographs] come from, comes from Snapchats servers, Snapchat has to authenticate these records and they have to have a records custodian to come here and testify and authenticate where these records are coming from.” (R. 48, line 23 – 49, line 4).

In response, the Prosecutor noted Snapchat provided a letter stating, “this is the certificate of authenticity from Snapchat” and argued the letter is sufficient to authenticate the photographs pursuant to Rule 902(8) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. (R. 50, line 25 – 51, line 14). Defense Counsel replied that the controlling authority on the issue is Rule 901, SCRE, and *State v. Benton*, 435 S.C. 250, 865 S.E.2d 919 (Ct. App. 2021). (R. 53 – 57; R. 60 – 61). The Trial Court interjected and refused to rule on the issue: “[T]hat’s for y’all to argue with the jury.” (R. 57, lines 22-23). Both

lawyers continued to reiterate their arguments on this issue. (R. 58 – 66).

The following day, Defense Counsel moved to admit the search warrant for Snapchat into evidence, and the Trial Court admitted the document without objection from the State. (R. 81 – 82).

Post-Trial Motion for a New Trial: Juror Misconduct

On March 10, 2022, Defense Counsel argued that the Trial Court should grant a new trial, or in the alternative to grant an evidentiary hearing because of two jurors intentionally concealed information in response to the Court's voir dire questions when Defense Counsel would have struck them had the jurors not concealed the information. (R. 397-425).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO SUPPRESS PHOTOGRAPHS OBTAINED FROM SNAPCHAT BECAUSE THE COUNTY MAGISTRATE JUDGE DID NOT HAVE THE AUTHORITY TO ISSUE A SEARCH WARRANT TO THAT OUT-OF-STATE ENTITY FOR RECORDS THAT WERE NOT PHYSICALLY LOCATED IN THIS STATE.

In *State v. Warner*, our Supreme Court held that a county magistrate judge had the authority to issue a search warrant to an out-of-state entity for cell phone records that are not physically located in this State. *State v. Warner*, 436 S.C. 395, 872 S.E.2d 638 (2022). Specifically, the Court found that the cell phone provider “clearly does business in South Carolina, in particular, in [that particular] County” and “therefore, is subject to the jurisdiction of [that] County magistrate.” *Id.* at 403, 872 S.E.2d at 643. The Court further noted that “[t]he warrant sought records reflecting information generated in South Carolina through the interaction of [the defendant’s] cell phone and [the providers] cell towers in [that] County.” *Id.* Therefore, the Court held that the cell phone provider “is in possession and control of property that section 17-13-140 permits to be seized.” *Id.* at 404, 872 S.E.2d at 643. Section 17-13-140 of the South Carolina Code of Laws provides, in pertinent part:

Any magistrate ... may issue a search warrant to search for and seize ... property constituting evidence of crime or tending to show that a particular person committed a criminal offense The property described in this section, or any part thereof, may be seized from any place where such property may be located, or from the person, possession or control of any person who shall be found to have such property in his possession or under his control.

S.C. Code § 17-13-140.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]

Discussion

In this case, the Trial Court erred in refusing to suppress photographs obtained from snapchat because the Dillon County Magistrate Judge did not have the authority to issue a search warrant to that out-of-state entity for records that were not physically located in this State. Specifically, the facts presented here are distinct from *State v. Warner* for the following reasons: (1) the State failed to present any evidence that Snapchat does business in South Carolina or in Dillon County; (2) the State failed to present sufficient evidence that the records sought were generated in South Carolina; (3) the State failed to subpoena or request a search warrant for cell phone provider records to corroborate that the phone number associated with the Snapchat account belonged to Appellant; (4) the State could not prove that Appellant posted those pictures on Snapchat; and (5) the State's key witness who allegedly had this personal knowledge regarding Appellant died prior to trial. *Cf. Warner*, 436 S.C. 395, 872 S.E.2d 638.

Agent Martin conceded on cross-examination that he did not subpoena any records from a cell phone provider to identify the account owner of the specific number provided by the deceased CI. (R. 110, lines 12-23). Agent Martin further admitted he had no knowledge that the cell phone number was assigned to Appellant. (R. 110, line 23 – 111, line 2). Notably, the State never subpoenaed any phone records to substantiate the allegation that the phone number was associated with Appellant. (R. 106, lines 7-15). Therefore, the State did not provide sufficient evidence to prove Snapchat was in possession and control of property that section 17-13-140 permits to be seized.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING PHOTOGRAPHS OBTAINED FROM SNAPCHAT BECAUSE THIS EVIDENCE WAS NOT PROPERLY AUTHENTICATED PURSUANT TO RULE 901, SCRE, BY PERSONAL KNOWLEDGE, DISTINCTIVE CHARACTERISTICS, OR RECORDS CUSTODIAN.

“[E]vidence must be authenticated or identified in order to be admissible.” *State v. Brown*, 424 S.C. 479, 488, 818 S.E.2d 735, 740 (2018). “The authentication standard is not high, and a party need not rule out any possibility the evidence is not authentic.” *State v. Green*, 427 S.C. 223, 230, 830 S.E.2d 711, 714 (Ct. App. 2019) (citation omitted), *aff’d as modified*, 432 S.C. 97, 851 S.E.2d 440 (2020). “The trial judge acts as the authentication gatekeeper, and a party may open the gate by laying a foundation from which a reasonable juror could find the evidence is what the party claims.” *Id.*

The following are examples of authentication or identification conforming with the requirements of this rule:

- (1) Testimony of Witness With Knowledge. Testimony that a matter is what it is claimed to be.
- ...
- (4) Distinctive Characteristics and the Like. Appearance, contents, substance, internal patterns, or other distinctive characteristics, taken in conjunction with circumstances.

Rule 901(b), SCRE. Notably, “‘the burden to authenticate ... is not high’ and requires only that the proponent must offer a satisfactory foundation to permit the jury to conclude the evidence is authentic. *Deep Keel, LLC v. Atlantic Private Equity Group, LLC*, 413 S.C. 58, 64-65, 773 S.E.2d 607, 610 (Ct. App. 2015) (citing *United States v. Hassan*, 742 F.3d 104, 133 (4th Cir. 2014)).

“Social media messages and content are writings, and evidence law has always viewed the authorship of writings with a skeptical eye.” *Green*, 427 S.C. at 230, 830 S.E.2d at 714. “*The requirement of authentication cannot be met by merely offering the*

writing on its own. Something more must be set forth connecting the writing to the person the proponent claims the author to be.” *Id.* at 231, 830 S.E.2d at 714 (citation omitted) (emphasis added). “Rule 901(b), SCRE, lists ten non-exclusive methods of authentication.” *Id.* at 231, 830 S.E.2d at 715. “Rule 901, SCRE, does not care what form the writing takes, [a]ll that matters is whether it can be authenticated, for the rule was put in place to deter fraud.” *Id.* at 231, 830 S.E.2d at 714.

Under Rule 901(b)(1), SCRE, evidence may be authenticated by “having someone with personal knowledge about the writing testify the matter is what it is claimed to be.” *Id.* at 231, 830 S.E.2d at 715. “This method may be accomplished by testimony from a person who sent or received the writing.” *Id.* Additionally, “[o]ne who witnessed the creation or signing of the writing also has the personal knowledge Rule 901(b)(1), SCRE, demands.” *Id.* “As long as a witness with personal knowledge testifies that an exhibit accurately portrays what it depicts, that should be sufficient to establish its authenticity.” 3 Barbara E. Bergman et al., *Wharton’s Criminal Evidence* § 14:2 (15th ed. 2021).

In *Green*, the defendant asserted the trial court erred by admitting into evidence Facebook messages allegedly between his codefendant and the victim because they were not properly authenticated. 427 S.C. at 227, 229, 830 S.E.2d at 712, 714. First, this Court noted social media’s seemingly unique authentication problems “dissolve against the framework of Rule 901, SCRE.” *Id.* at 230, 830 S.E.2d at 714. Applying that framework, this Court determined the messages could not be authenticated by personal knowledge under Rule 901(b)(1), SCRE, because the testifying witness did not send or receive the messages, nor witness their creation. *Id.* at 231, 830 S.E.2d at 715.

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