**RECEIVED**

**Jun 21 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Dillon County  
Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2022-000324

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

MARC YASIN MCKEIVER,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM B. ROGERS, JR.  
Solicitor, Fourth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 616  
Bennettsville, SC 29512  
(843) 479-6516

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

---

concerning magistrates. Id. at 402 n. 5, 872 S.E.2d at 641 n. 5. The Supreme Court then analyzed the circumstances of Warner’s case and found the magistrate in Anderson County could validly issue a search warrant to T-Mobile for data and records potentially stored in New Jersey because T-Mobile did business in Anderson County and, thus, was “subject to the jurisdiction of our courts[.]” Id. at 403-404, 872 S.E.2d at 642. Furthermore, as part of its analysis, the Supreme Court noted the search warrant sought records for information generated in South Carolina. Id. at 403, 872 S.E.2d at 642.

<sup>8</sup> Particularly in light of our Supreme Court’s explanation the language of the search warrant statute does not preclude magistrates in South Carolina from issuing search warrants to an out-of-state entity for records being stored out of state, the officers in Appellant’s case unquestionably acted in good faith by seeking the search warrant from the magistrate in Dillon County and by relying on that judicially-issued warrant to obtain the photographs from Snapchat, which—just as the trial judge correctly recognized—meant there was no legitimate reason for that evidence to be suppressed. See United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 922-923 (1984) (instructing the exclusionary rule should ordinarily not be applied when an officer who conducted a search acted in objectively reasonable reliance on a judicially-approved search warrant issued by a detached and neutral magistrate that was only later determined to be invalid); see also Messerschmidt v. Millender, 565 U.S. 535, 546 (2012) (“Where the alleged Fourth Amendment violation involves a search or seizure pursuant to a warrant, the fact that a neutral magistrate has issued a warrant is the clearest indication that the officers acted in an objectively reasonable manner or, as we have sometimes put it, in objective good faith.” (citation and internal quotations omitted)); Massachusetts v. Sheppard, 468 U.S. 981, 989-990 (1984) (“[W]e refuse to rule that an officer is required to disbelieve a judge who has just advised him, by word and by action, that the warrant he possesses authorizes him to conduct the search he has requested.”); State v. McKnight, 291 S.C. 110, 113, 352 S.E.2d 471, 473 (1987) (explaining exclusion is the appropriate remedy *when* the State cannot “demonstrate a good faith attempt to comply with the [search warrant] statute”)

<sup>9</sup> During trial, testimony was presented establishing all the photographs admitted into evidence were *publicly* posted to Snapchat, which allows for both private communications between users and public postings to a user’s “story.” (R. pp. 192-193). In light of that, it remains unclear—just as the trial judge recognized—how Appellant could have possessed a *legitimate* expectation of privacy in those publicly-posted photographs. See State v. Missouri, 361 S.C. 107, 112, 603 S.E.2d 594, 596 (2004) (explaining criminal defendants bear the burden of demonstrating “they

the trial judge’s ruling denying the suppression motion was based on multiple grounds completely independent from the validity or invalidity of the search warrant, Appellant was required to challenge all those grounds in order for his appellate challenge to the trial judge’s ruling to be conceivably valid, but he has wholly failed to do so. As a result, the ruling denying the suppression motion must be affirmed because the unchallenged grounds upon which it was based have now become the law of the case.<sup>10</sup> Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

### **Relevant Facts**

Toward the outset of Appellant’s trial, defense counsel moved to suppress the evidence obtained as a result of the search warrant sent to Snapchat. (R. pp. 66-67). As support for that

---

have a legitimate expectation of privacy” before they can properly raise a constitutional challenge to a search); cf. United States v. Hoeffener, 950 F.3d 1037, 1044 (8th Cir. 2020) (“A defendant has no legitimate expectation of privacy in files made available to the public through peer-to-peer file-sharing networks.”); United States v. Meregildo, 883 F. Supp. 2d 523, 526 (S.D.N.Y. 2012) (“While Colon undoubtedly believed that his Facebook profile would not be shared with law enforcement, he had no justifiable expectation that his ‘friends’ would keep his profile private. And the wider his circle of ‘friends,’ the more likely Colon’s posts would be viewed by someone he never expected to see them. Colon’s legitimate expectation of privacy ended when he disseminated posts to his ‘friends’ because those ‘friends’ were free to use the information however they wanted—including sharing it with the Government.” (citations omitted)).

<sup>10</sup> Notably, in light of the Warner decision, the trial judge’s finding the search warrant issued in Appellant’s case exceeded the magistrate’s jurisdictional authority was obviously incorrect. See Warner, 436 S.C. at 404, 872 S.E.2d at 642 (recognizing a county magistrate could validly issue a search warrant for an out-of-state company’s records regardless of whether those records were physically stored in South Carolina). And, because Snapchat obviously does business with South Carolina’s citizens and the evidence presented during trial supported a conclusion the photographs obtained from Snapchat were created by Appellant in Dillon County since some depicted the very drugs he sold in that county after using the same phone number associated with the Snapchat account to arrange the transaction in which they were sold, the search warrant issued by the magistrate in Appellant’s case was not invalid for the same reasons the search warrant in Warner’s case was not invalid. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (instructing “[a]ny magistrate . . . may issue a search warrant to search for and seize” various types of property, including “property constituting evidence of crime or tending to show that a particular person committed a criminal offense”); cf. Warner, 436 S.C. at 404, 872 S.E.2d at 642 (“T-Mobile is a ‘person’ doing business in Anderson County. Thus, T-Mobile is subject to the jurisdiction of our courts, and we find it was not beyond the power of the magistrate to issue the warrant.”).

motion, defense counsel asserted a magistrate in South Carolina could not validly issue a warrant authorizing a search outside the magistrate’s jurisdictional boundaries while noting Snap Inc.—the corporation behind Snapchat—was not a company located within Dillon County. (R. pp. 66-68). As a result, defense counsel argued the search warrant was purportedly void since it was issued by a Dillon County magistrate. (R. pp. 67-68).

Immediately in response to those remarks, the trial judge expressed agreement and instructed the solicitor the warrant was “not gonna hold water” if it was issued for Snapchat records. (R. p. 68). The solicitor then attempted to explain why he believed the warrant would “hold water,” but, before he could offer that explanation, the trial judge interrupted and reiterated his view a magistrate could not issue a warrant for digital evidence held on a server unless the specific server was physically located in the magistrate’s county.<sup>11</sup> (R. p. 69).

Following that, the solicitor—in addition to noting the issue was currently pending before the South Carolina Supreme Court in the Warner case—noted the evidence was created in Dillon County in the magistrate’s jurisdiction and, thus, clearly had a connection to Dillon County. (R. pp. 69-70). Moreover, the solicitor asserted the officers acted in good faith and the evidence would inevitably be obtained through other means if the warrant issued by the magistrate in Dillon County was not valid. (R. pp. 69-70; pp. 73-74; pp. 83-87). Beyond that, the solicitor noted the records in question stemmed from “posts” Appellant “put out for all of his followers to see” and, thus, were not truly private. (R. p. 86).

Ultimately, after considering the matter overnight, the trial judge denied the suppression motion. (R. p. 74; p. 76; p. 91). In so doing, the trial judge found “there was good faith on the

---

<sup>11</sup> Later on, the trial judge reiterated he had been instructed magistrates in South Carolina could not “issue on a server that’s not within that particular county where the magistrate has jurisdiction.” (R. p. 71).

part of law enforcement” in obtaining the search warrant because the officers’ actions were consistent with common practices in South Carolina at the time the warrant was obtained. (R. pp. 88-89). Furthermore, the trial judge concluded Appellant did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the photographs while analogizing Appellant’s posting of them for “a mass of people” to view to placing an ad in a printed newspaper.<sup>12</sup> (R. pp. 89-91).

Subsequent to that, the trial proceeded forward, the solicitor sought to admit a number of the photographs obtained from Snapchat, and defense counsel renewed his objection to their admission. (R. pp. 193-194). However, once again, the trial judge declined to suppress those photographs. (R. p. 194).

#### **Standard of Review**

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). When conducting appellate review of an issue hinging on interpretation of a statute, the appellate court will review the matter de novo and is free to decide it without affording any deference to the trial judge because questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law. State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 552, 732 S.E.2d 861, 863 (2012). Meanwhile, when reviewing a ruling on a constitutional search-and-seizure issue on appeal, the appellate court will “review the trial court’s factual findings for any evidentiary support” and treat “the ultimate legal conclusion” as “a question of law subject to de novo review.” State v. Frasier, 437 S.C. 625, 633, 879 S.E.2d 762, 766 (2022).

#### **Argument**

Pursuant to the law-of-the-case doctrine, a ruling becomes the law of the case regardless of whether it is right or wrong when it is not appealed. State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 28, 732

---

<sup>12</sup> Based on the evidence presented during trial, all the relevant photographs were *publicly* posted to the Snapchat account associated with the search warrant. (R. pp. 192-193).

S.E.2d 880, 890 (2012). In light of that doctrine, an appellant is necessarily required to appeal *all* the grounds upon which a ruling is based when one is based on multiple independent grounds. State v. Hicks, 387 S.C. 378, 379, 692 S.E.2d 919, 920 (2010). Significantly, “should the appealing party fail to raise all of the grounds upon which a [trial judge]’s decision was based, those unappealed findings—whether correct or not—become the law of the case.” Dreher v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control, 412 S.C. 244, 250, 772 S.E.2d 505, 508 (2015).

Therefore, when an appellant only *partially* appeals a trial judge’s ruling based on more than one ground, the ruling automatically must be affirmed on appeal regardless of its actual correctness. Hicks, 387 S.C. at 379, 692 S.E.2d at 920; see Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 328, 730 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2012) (“Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become law of the case.” (citation and internal quotations omitted)); Weeks v. McMillan, 291 S.C. 287, 292, 353 S.E.2d 289, 292 (Ct. App. 1987) (“Where a decision is based on alternative grounds, either of which independent of the other is sufficient to support it, the decision will not be reversed even if one of the grounds is erroneous.”).

In the case sub judice, the trial judge’s ruling denying the suppression motion related to the search warrant sent to Snapchat was *not* based on a finding of the warrant was properly issued or valid. Instead, in declining to suppress the incriminating photographic evidence obtained from Snapchat, the trial judge—who agreed with defense counsel’s argument a magistrate in South Carolina could not properly issue a search warrant authorizing a search outside the magistrate’s particular county—found suppression was not warranted in Appellant’s case *despite the purported invalidity of the warrant* because the good faith exception to the

exclusionary rule was applicable under the circumstances involved and because Appellant did not have a legitimate expectation of privacy in the publicly-posted photographs.

Now, on appeal, Appellant contends the trial judge erred by denying the suppression motion. (App. Br. pp. 11-12). However, in doing so, Appellant does not maintain the trial judge was wrong to find the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule was applicable and does not maintain the trial judge erred by concluding he had no legitimate expectation of privacy in the photographs. (App. Br. pp. 11-12). In fact, Appellant does not even *acknowledge* the trial judge made such rulings at all. (App. Br. pp. 8-9; pp. 11-12). Instead, Appellant *solely* maintains the trial judge's suppression ruling should be reversed based on the supposed invalidity of the search warrant standing alone. (App. Br. pp. 11-12).

Critically, since the ruling denying the suppression motion was based on grounds independent of the validity or invalidity of the search warrant, Appellant was fundamentally required to appeal all the grounds upon which the ruling was based in order for it to be conceivably possible for his appellate challenge to the ruling to be a viable one. See Jones v. Lott, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010) (“Under the two issue rule, where a trial court’s decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case.”), abrogated on other grounds by Repko v. County of Georgetown, 424 S.C. 494, 818 S.E.2d 743 (2018). However, Appellant has not done so on appeal and, instead, has only challenged the validity of the search warrant itself as opposed to the *actual* grounds upon which the trial judge based his decision to deny the suppression motion. Cf. Hicks, 387 S.C. at 379, 692 S.E.2d at 920 (“In this case, the Court of Appeals erred in addressing the merits of petitioner’s argument regarding the revocation of probation based on [one ground] because the probation revocation

judge revoked petitioner’s probation on two additional grounds, *which petitioner did not challenge.*” (emphasis added)). As a result, the unchallenged portion of the ruling denying the suppression motion has become the law of the case, and, thus, there can be—and is—no proper basis upon which to reverse that ruling on appeal since the unappealed independent grounds upon which it was based must be treated as correct pursuant to the law-of-the-case doctrine. See Black, 400 S.C. at 28, 732 S.E.2d at 890 (instructing an unappealed ruling—regardless of whether it is right or wrong—becomes the law of the case); cf. Anderson v. Short, 323 S.C. 522, 525, 476 S.E.2d 475, 477 (1996) (“[T]he trial judge ruled against Paul on two grounds. . . . Paul has only challenged the second ground. Because he has not appealed on all grounds, the trial court’s decision is affirmed.”); State v. Galloway, 305 S.C. 258, 263, 407 S.E.2d 662, 665 (Ct. App. 1991) (“[T]he unappealed alternative ruling that the motion was untimely constitutes an independent ground for upholding the judgment.”). Accordingly, Appellant’s appellate challenge to the suppression ruling—which was not directed at the basis upon which suppression was actually denied—must be rejected. See Hicks, 387 S.C. at 379, 692 S.E.2d at 920 (“Where the ruling of a trial judge is based on more than one ground, an appellate court must affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds upon which the ruling was based.”); cf. Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 662, 594 S.E.2d 462, 471 (2004) (“[T]he trial court ruled the statement was admissible under Rule 803(3), SCRE. Because [Sheppard] does not appeal the trial court’s ruling that the statement is a Rule 803(3) exception to the hearsay rule, that ruling is the law of the case. Accordingly, the trial court did not err by admitting Lynch’s testimony.” (citation and footnote omitted)). Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

## II.

**The trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion or otherwise err by finding several Snapchat photographs were properly authenticated because the State authenticated those photographs by establishing in multiple ways a basis upon which a factfinder could reasonably conclude they were what they were purported to be, which was all that was required for those photographs to be authenticated.**

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